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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The downtown historic and architectural district in Richmond consists of both sides of
Main Street from Lancaster Street and Church Street to mid-block between First Street
and North Madison Avenue and those portions of North Second Street, North First Street,
and Irvine Street that front upon the courthouse square. Additionally the buildings on the
corners of Irvine and First and Second Streets are included. (See maps #I, I, III, and
photo 1.) The ground slopes downward from the northwest on the south, north, and east.

This area includes some 65 buildings whose descriptions follow. The block letters and
building numbers are shown on map 3.

BLOCK A

Building No. 1 is the First Baptist Church which was constructed in 1922 on land originally
given to this group in 1828. It is a large-scaled basilical building with a Tuscan porch on
front, of brick and stone. The scale of the building and its placement are part of the gate-
way into the city and, as the highest point within the city, the typical place for the church
to be located. Eee photo 2.)

Building No. 2 is the First Presbyterian Church. The current structure is dated 1920 and
is not the original,as the site dates to 1828; however, in placement, materials, and design
it relates to the original intent. It is an unpainted red brick church with gray stone trim
of aGothic flavor. The vertical effect formed by the steeple, and ample one-story design,
also contribute to the gateway to the city on the heights. Since it is located across from
the City Hall, the towers of both work together. §ee photos 2 and 3.)

Building No. 3 was constructed prior to 1886 as it is shown on the 1886 Sanborn maps ‘see map?
The grand two-story, Italianate dwelling has been taken over by a funeral home establish-
ment which has retained its residential character, form, and decoration, although a porch
with two-story, paired columns has been added. This is one of the remaining dwellings of
the wealthier Richmond families which were located along the entrance pikes outside the
downtown area. Being in the transition block, this building responds to the row of houses
located farther out on Main Street and Lancaster Avenue. It is of brick construction.
S ee photos 3 and 4,)

Building No. 4, currently Tinder, Krauss, Tinder, opticians, is a two-story brick
building which is shown as a residence on the 1886 Sanborn map. The facade has been
much altered. See photo 5.)

To the left of building No. 4 is an intrusion in the area, a simple, one-story, masonry
gas station and service garage. (See photo 5,)

(continued)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Richmond Historic District,which includes properties along Main Street and

around the courthouse square,possesses in a concentrated and unified form a large
number of late Victorian commercial storefronts closely linked by time and physical
development. The buildings form an interesting gateway into the city and also serve

as an effective backdrop for the grandiose Greek Revival Madison County Courthouse.
Located in the Bluegrass region of central Kentucky, southeast of Lexington and on the
edge of the Eastern Kentucky mountains, Madison County has always been one of.the
richer and more cultivated Kentucky counties. The presence in Richmond of Eastern
Kentucky University (founded as.Central University in 1874) has contributed much to

the. community. The late 19th-century railway links with Cincinnati, Qhio, also pro-
vided both progerity and architectural sophistication. These qualities are reflected in the
largely intact downtown district.

ARCHITECTURE

Architecturally, the downtown district of Richmond combines several outstanding
individual structures with remarkably harmonious (in spite of a few recent intrusions)
links. The courthouse, designed by noted Lexington architect Major Thomas Lewinski,
with several compatible additions that increase its bulk, is one of the largest and best-
preserved Greek Revival courthouses in Kentucky. Behind it are an equally pretentious
late 19th-century jail and jailer's residence with distinctive Italianate trim. The pres-
ent City Hall, originally the Federal Post Office, at the western entrance to the district,
is also a conspicuous and architecturally significant structure. Although Richardsonian
Romanesque in detail and rough stone surface, its imposing verticality evokes later
medieval town halls and effectively crowns the eminence on which the city is built.
Opposite it are two typical turn-of-the-century churches (and others nearby) and a sur-
viving, if altered, Italianate residence representative of those that once lined the west
end of Main Street. The commercial part of downtown is heralded by the Glyndon

Hotel, an elegantly simple 1890s Renaissance block designed by Desjardins and Hayward,
a distinguished Cincinnati architectural firm that also produced a number of superb
residences elsewhere in Richmond.

Among the more important constituents of the commercial facades that line the
spacious courthouse square and Main Street are the possible remains of an early

(continued)
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BLOCK B

Building No. 6 is the Glyndon Hotel. The current building was constructed in 1891
following a fire which destroyed the original hotel in 1890. The Glyndon served as
a focal point for many of the social events through the 1930s. The original hotel
was constructed in 1889. The present Glyndon Hotel is a four-story, unpainted
brick building with trim consisting of balcony railings, columns, and cornice. The
large four-story building is, in spite of such characteristics, a building which is
without directionality. The first-floor facade has been altered in limited areas as
commercial storefronts have been modernized. The upper openings have an irreg-
ular rhythm, emphasized by the round arches of the top story. A three-story pro-
jection defines the asymmetrically.placed entrance. The building firmly establishes
the point at which the city structure becomes a solid mass defining the interior space
of the city and not the countryside, and begins the rhythm of structural bays and
fenestration which continue down the street to the court square. The late Victorian
building is of early Italian Renaissance inspiration. It was designhed by Desjardins
and Haywood, a noted Cincinnati architectural firm. .

Building No. 7 is the Collins Building which currently houses J.C. Penney and Com-~
pany. It was originally constructed as a furniture store in 1895. The site had been
occupied previously by a livery stable owned by W.W, Pigg, who operated a stage-
coach line from Richmond to Irvine in 1886. (The stable was destroyed by the fire
which claimed major portions of the block.) The Collins Building has three stories
with centralized facade of three openings and a pediment which emphasizes central-
ity. Along with the change in height to three stories, the building also is broader
than those down the street. It was indirectly desighed as an intermediary between
the high, broad hotel on the corner and those smaller buildings to the east leading
to the court house. Decorated with stamped-metal windowhoods, cornice, brackets,
and pediment, the building is simply designed, restrained,but rich in detail and in
close relationship to the buildings on its left. (See photo 8 and 8C.)

Building No. 8 is currently Cato's. When constructed prior to 1883, it housed
Covington and Arnold's grocery store. It is a two-story building with equally spaced,
tall, narrow windows with added shutters decorated with elaborate . stamped-metal
windowhoods, cornice, and brackets. Cast-iron pilasters on the side of the building

(continued)
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BLOCK B continued
create a highly decorative facade. Rich in detail, the building has similar propor-

tions to the building on its left (east) and sustains the feeling of height which is
realized in the three-story building on its right and four -story hotel on the corner.
(See photos 8 and 8A.)

Building No. 9 currently houses the Factory Shoe Outlet. In 1886 the building housed
a dry goods store but the construction date for the building is unknown. It is a two-
story, plain brick building with three openings. The original brick trim has been
removed. Although a very simple unadorned building, it does respond through the
use of proportion and size of its simple forms and openings to the entire block.

(See photos 8 and 8B.)

Building No. 10 currently houses the Jean Shop. This building was utilized as a dry
goods store in 1886, but the construction date is unknown. It is a two-story, un-
painted, red brick building with white trim. The simple brick facade with two roundly
arched openings is enhanced by detailed designh of applied,stamped-metal cornice,
stone for lintels over the windows,and quoins on the edges of the building., The build-
ing with its simple design is a foil for the large scale Neo-classical facade to the
east of it and matches the building farther to the east which also frames the Neo-
classical round-arched opening. Together they continue the rhythm of the street,
contain the special quality of the building between them, and in size as well as build-
ing shape step up the street, keeping the cornice line in direct relation to the eleva-
tion change of the street. See photos 9, 10, and 9 A,)

Building No. 11 was formerly the Farmers Bank but is currently (since 1933) part
of Lerman Brothers Department store. It is a highly central, two-story building
with a very large round-arched, thermal window centered in its facade of stone with
applied metal entablature, cornice, and flat stone parapet with central cartouche
above. The handsome, two-story, Doric pilasters have been truncated by the shop-
front below. This building, the most self-contained on the block, is joined to the
others by its flat facade, the floor heights stepping in regular order to those on
either side of it, the total building height, and the placement of the balcony on the
front which corresponds to the two-story buildings on either side and farther east
on the block. (See photo 10.)

Building No. 12 was erected in 1900 by J.B. Stouffer and housed his men's clothing
store. The building is now the central portion of Lerman Brothers Department

(continued)
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BLOCK B continued
store. It is a two-story building with a pediment centered above containing the name

and date of the building. (See photo 10.)

Building No. 13 is a brick, two-story structure. The upper story is an applied stamped-
metal facade with a rich embossed quality. The facade is not centralized by details or
window openings or a central cornice motif, but does have equally spaced and sized
fenestration with the facade. The paired colonnettes at the ends separate the facade
from its neighbors and at the same time continue the rhythm of the block. The build-
ing is currently used as a portion of Lerman Brothers Department store. In 1886 the
building housed a grocery and hardware store, but the date of construction is unknown.
(See photo 10.)

Building No. 14 was utilized as a hardware store in 1886, but is currently Jett and
Hall Shoe store. It is a two-~story building with a three-part facade. The stamped-
metal applied front with a high bracketted cornice is designed in the style of the
Victorian Renaissance Revival. The design is abstracted and highly geometric, yet
rich in detait: (See photo 11.)

Building No. 15 was constructed in 1884 by D,M. Bright and currently houses
Elizabeth's, a dress shop. It has a two-story, brick facade. The decorative brick-
work in the revival style of Italian Gothic with its accentuated gable creates a highly
centralized, richly ornamented facade which even includes gargoyles to complete the
Gothic suggestion. Applied stamped-metal attic inserts, cornice, and brackets on
the two sides complete the facade. In spite of the emphasis on the acute gable and
lower side bays, the facade does not seem inconsistent with the overall outline of
the block. (See photo 11.)

Building No. 16 is the Stockton Building, which has been a drugstore since 1886. This
two-story building, withthree equally spaced and highly articulated windows, is
covered with a stamped facade. It is an elegant, very richly detailed, Renaissance
Revival composition of columns, arches, brackets, and cornice. (8ee photo 11)

Building No. 17 currently houses Jett and Hall Men's Apparel. The building was
constructed prior to 1886 at which time it was a dry goods store. In 1895,J,B. Walker's
Ladies Garments utilized the building as the first ladies ready-to-wear store in
Richmond. The building has two stories with a brick facade and no applied decoration.

(continued)
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BLOCK B continued
Decoration 1s provided by the projected courses of brick forming pilasters, arched

window openings, dentil work and cornice. It is a simple, straightforward, commer-
cial. vernacular building whose flat facade is relieved by the decorative brickwork,
creating scale and proportional relationships in common with the rest of the buildings
on the street and continuing around the corner. (See photo 9.)

BLOCK C

q It appears from visual and structural evidence that the two stores that begin this

*  block may be the oldest surviving commercial structures in the district. In spite
of the 20th-century facade on Newberry's (Building No. 18) and Victorian hoodmoulds
on No. 19, they appear to have been originally a single structure of an early type,
as shown in a photograph taken about 1905 for the "supplement" to the Richmond
Climax (photo 10A). The spacing of the openings shown there suggests a central
entrance to a large seven-bay edifice with a Federal doorway. The low sloping roof
(still visible on No. 19 with its added dormer), delicate cornice returned at the left
end, and gable chimneys are also early features. This hypothesis deserves further
research and may eventually warrant restoration efforts.

Building No. 18 currently houses Newberry's and is a two-story, brick building with
a centrally organized, unpainted, wire-brick, upper facade with trim con-
sisting of a heavy, richly detailed, stamped-metal cornice across the front and ex-
tending along the long Second Street facade. This low two-story building is enriched
and made more powerful by its cornice. Although it is smaller than many buildings
on the street, this cornice makes up for the difference in scale. The extension of
its cornice around the corner and stretching a long distance on Second Street, which
is visible from Main Street, emphasizes the solidarity of the block. (See photos 12,
13, and 13A.)

Building No. 19, built prior to 1886, currently houses McCord's Jewelry Store and
is a three-story, brick building with standing seam roof. A simple commercial
structure with stamped-metal windowhoods on the second story, it is smaller in
scale than those around it,owing to the gabled dormer of the third floor. (See photos
12,- 13, 13A, and 14.)

(continued)
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BLOCK C continued
Building No. 20 was built prior to 1886 and currently houses the Madison National

Bank; in 1905 it was the Richmond National Bank building. While it is a three-story
building, it is smaller scaled than the two-story-building to its left yet higher. The
upper facade below the new cornice has brick decorations composed of blind arches.
The remainder of the facade has been given a 'colonial" character through the
fenestration and recessed entrance (compare photo 14A). (See photos 12, 14, 14A,
and 15.)

Building No. 21 is the Oldham Building which currently houses Ben Franklin 5 and 10.
The two-story building is decorated with large scale wood and stamped-metal brackets,
as well as cornice with centrally placed curve probably added about 1905. The wind-
ows have stone sills, jambs, and lintels, and the building is crowned with a high,
brick, solid parapet which increases the scale of the facade. This building bridges
the size difference of the structures on each side of it through its exaggerated height
and the graduation of the levels of window openings, cornices, and false front. (See
photos 12, 14, and 15.)

Building No. 22 houses the State Bank and Trust Company, and is a two-story, stone-
faced building built in 1898 in early Beaux-Arts classical style. It is constructed of
light gray, well-cut stones which form a refined, rusticated, lower facade with round-
arched openings and keystones; a recessed, second-story facade with two equally
spaced, unfluted Ionic columns; and an entablature with dentils below and balustrade
above. The building as a bank has the proper impressive facade expressing the con-
fidence and security its builders wished it to have; however, it has no overpowering
centrality or design qualities of vertical, horizontal, or three-dimensional charac-
ter which could conflict with the courthouse. Except for Baroque swan-neck pedi-
ments and other changes with“the first-story arches, the facade is exactly as shown
in the 1905 view. (See photos 12, 14, 14B, 14C, and 15.)

Building No. 23 is a two-story structure with a central plaque containing the date of

the building, 1911, above the cornice. The unpainted brick building with tan stone
lintels and sills as well as stamped-metal cornice and brackets now houses Park
Hardware and the Richmond Loan Company. Four cast-iron, fluted pilasters and

flat, iron-covered entablature frame the two first-floor commercial establishments
and the central entrance to the second-floor stair. This is an unobtrusive commer-
cial structure in keeping with the planar facade of the Main Street area. (See photo 14.)

(continued)
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BLOCK C continued
Building No. 24 replaced the original building after its destruction by fire. The

current building is two stories with no second<floor openings on Main Street. It
is unadorned except for the name of the commercial establishment, University
Galleries, placed upon the brick facade. The present building has retained the
scale of the building outline and facade line in keeping with the original buildings
on Main Street. See photo 12.)

Building No. 25 has housed a drugstore since 1828, Oren L. Collins Pharmacy
currently occupies the building which is a two-story structure. The cornice is
formed by a projected brick course and other trim is limited to stone window
sills and lintels. (See photo 12.)

BLOCK D

Building No. 26 is the Owen McKee Building which was constructed in 1895 and
housed a dry goods and notions store at that time. It now houses several busi=
nesses and establishments. An impressive two-and-one-half-story stone facade
of simplified rustication on the lower level and fine stonework above,including
stone lintels, sills, and a crenelated cornice,was added after 1905. The three
equally~-spaced groups of three windows across the facade continue the rhythmic
quality of Main Street. Ifs restrained flat facade is like thoseiother buildings in
the area except for the courthouse. The 1895 panelled brick cornice still appears
along the side of the building. (8ee photos 16, 16A, and 16B.)

Building No. 27, constructed in 1897 (although of an earlier Victorian character),
now houses Blue Grass Hardware. It is a tall, three-story building with lavish
stamped-metal windowhoods, paired brackets, and cornice. It continues the late
Victorian character of much of the district into this block. Eee photo 16 and 16B.)

Building No. 28 is two stories with five window openings on the second story, four
almost equally spaced and one spaced farther to the left. The building, which
also houses Blue Grass Hardware, steps down with the land level change and con-
tinues the rhythm of Main Street. {See photos 16 and 16B.)

(continued)
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BLOCK E

Building No. 29. Around 1900 the building, located on the corner of Church and
West Main Streets, became the location for the present fire and police station. This
one-story building with three equal bays was constructed of brick with a stonefaced
facade and is of rather elegant Neo-classical revival style. A balustrade with panel
above the center of the building raises its height. This broad, low building with its
large-scale openings has no definite directionality but provides the rhythm leading
to the courthouse square on Main Street. The position of the building on the facade
line begins to close the street, in contrast to the setback structures farther east.
The handsome Revival facade of light gray cut stone, although of a later date, does
not intrude in its design with the earlier buildings in the area and, in fact, echoes
the style of the First Baptist Church (Building No. 10) opposite. (See photo 17.)

Building No. 30, built in 1891, is the City Hall on West Main Street, previously the
Post Office. It is an impressive, four-story building with a clock tower on the left
side of the structure. The immense scale of the building, with its finely carved
stone columns and capitals of Romanesque design, is diminished by the decreasing
size of the windows. The fourth-floor windows are treated aslucarnes within the
roof structure, emphasizing the horizontal character of the fenestration and stone
carving and moldings. This building, whose architect is not known, together with
the First Presbyterian Church across the street, forms a gateway into the core of
the city proper. The superb tower, with open belfry and clockfaced dormers on
the pyramidal roof, is a landmark visible from a considerable distance. (See photos
17, 18, and 19.)

Building No. 31. This one-story commercial building, Big B Dry Cleaners, located
on West Main Street beyond City Hall, is of modern design with aluminum, glass, and
brickmaterials which do not differ greatly from the other first-story facades of earlier
buildings on Main Street. The block itself is the transition block which closes down
the space to form an internal corridor to the center of the downtown. The facade

line is in keeping with the original sturctures. (See photo 17,)

Building No. 32. The Sherwin Williams Paint Store is a one-story building of mod-

ern design. Although an intrusion, the building is, nevertheless, constructed of
the same materials as many of the first-story facades in the original buildings on

(continued)
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BLOCK E continued
this street. Being in the transition block, its qualities as an intrusion are not so
visually distressing. ee photo 20.)

Building No. 33. This two-story, brick building with projected coursing, which
creates pilasters on the upper facade, has stamped-metal capitals, entablature,
and corince., Projecting first-floor shopfront is probably an addition. Now the
C.L.T. Financial Building, the site earlier housed the first bank in Madison County,
the Kentucky Northern Bank. (See photo 20,)

BLOCK F

Building No. 34. Originally the McClenon Hotel, the building now housing the
Towne Cinema has undergone alteration. The windows on the second floor have
been enclosed and the lower facade has been completely enclosed with glass to
provide an entrance to the ticket booth. The building is decorated with stamped-
metal windowhoods, cornice and brackets and alternating quoins at the corners.
See photo 21.)

Building No. 35. This three-story building, containing Higgins Furniture Store, has
been owned by the same family since 1897. The gray-brown stone facing is not in
keeping with the original facades. The variance occurred as a result of recent al-
terations to the original brick facade. (See photo 22.)

Building No. 36. The new Richmond Bank building to the right of Higgins Furniture
Store has the same height of first- and second-story openings as the building to jits +
left, and the bays of its facade have the rhythmic quality of the original structures
on the same street. This new structure of precast concrete is, however, an in-
trusion of conflicting materials. @Eee photos 21 and 22.)

Building No. 37. This three-story building (presently Shepard's Billiards) of brick
with trim dates to around 1896 when it housed the Madison National Bank. The
building is decorated with stamped windowhoods, cornice and brackets with remains
of the centrally applied metal design to the left of the center. Stone quoins also
remain on the right side of the building to the corner. The applied decoration re-
lieves the flatness of the facade on the otherwise straightforward, brick vernacu-
lar buildings. The building has three equally-spaced openings and is in scale with
others on the street, continuing the rhythmic pattern established on Main Street

(continued)
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BLOCK F continued
leading to the courthouse square. Part of the structure was removed after fire

destroyed the building to the left of it, leaving the once elegant central feature
split down the middle. See photos 22 and 22A.)

Building No. 38. Highly decorative brickwork is featured on this three-storied,
brick, commercial building. The building has three equal openings in the flat
facade, linked vertically through the brick decorative coursing. Slight remod-
elling has occurred in the first-story facade, and the brick surface has been
painted. The building currently houses Doug's Men's Wear. (See photos 22 and
23.)

Building No. 39 is Jan's Shoes. The three-story building, now with a flat, un-
relieved and undecorated facade, underwent remodelling (like other buildings
owned by the same company elsewhere) thus changing the facade scale and re-
moving the quality of rhythmic openings in relation to the other buildings. How-
ever, the outline and proportion of the building conforms to those around it.

@Bee photos 23A, 34, 35, and 37.)

Building No. 40. This low, two-story building, now serving as a storage area for
the adjacent Jan's Shoe Store, was once the first jewelry store in Madison County
dating back to 1874. It has been minimally altered. The projecting brick decora-
tion forms windowhoods, dentils, cornice, and central pilaster. (See photo 23.)

Building No. 41 is Kessler's Jewelry Store. The two-story building is decorated
with stamped-metal cornice and stone sills and lintels around the windows. The
building is unpainted red brick with a white stone trim and painted cornice. The
facade, being slightly altered, is flat with a three-dimensional cornice. (See
photo 23,)

Building No. 42 is the new Snapp's Bakery. The ornate Baroque design of the
stamped-metal windowhoods is the distinguishing feature of this three-story
building. The three decorated openings in the facade have projected brick
coursing to form the cornice (perhaps originally merely the support for a
superimposed metal cornice). Windowhoods exist only on the Main Street ela-
vation, but the trim of brick coursing at the cornice is exactly the same on the
courthouse square elevation. This similarity ties the front and side of the

(continued)
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BLOCK F cntinued
building together on the corner which enters the courthouse square. (See photos
22 and 23;)

Building No. 43. See Block J.

Building No. 44 is a continuation of Mr. Snapp's Bakery. It is a three-story
building with three equally-spaced window openings without windowhoods. Its
design matches the facade of the hotel to its right in overall size, openings, and
the brick, blind arches at the top. This matching of details, levels, and heights
creates the image of one continuous wall embracing the courthouse square. (See
photo 24.)

Building No. 45 is the Old Hotel (Douglas and Simmons Building) bought by
Douglas Simmons in 1909. Built in 1871, it was first called the Ideal House. By
1879 its name had been changed to The Garnett House (see photo 27). It is cur-
rently used to house several business establishments and portions are vacant. A
three~story building with a broad facade, it continues at the same height as the
building on the corner of West Main and Second streets, thereby continuing the con-
taining wall around the courthouse square without interruption. The painted brick
second and third stories,with their decoration of stamped-metal windowhoods, cor-
nice, and brackets,continues the same type of construction and decoration used on
Main Street. The lower facade still has the cast-iron columns at the entrance of
the old hotel with acanthus leaf capitals, and cast-iron pilasters remaining at the
edges of the building, although the original, elegant, iron balcony across the sec-
ond story has been removed and partially replaced with a porch on the right half
of the first story over the sidewalk.  Below the applied cornice are projecting
courses of bricks forming blind arches across the facade which match the two
buildings adjacent to the old hotel, further tying the separate buildings together
to form one complete facade on Second Street. (See photos 24, 25, 26, 26A, 26B, and 27.)

Building No. 46 currently houses the Smart Shoppe. A three-story building with
painted brick facade, it has two equally.spaced window openings and is decora-
ted with the same blind arches as the hotel to its left. The stamped-metal cor-
nice and brackets of this building are very similar to those of the hotel to its
left, but it no longer retains its windowhoods. (See photos 24, 25, 26, and 27,)

(continued)
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BLOCK F continued
Building No. 47 is a two-story, broad, brick building utilizing stamped-metal

windowhoods, cornice and brackets. The corners of the first-floor facade have
cast-iron pilasters, and three, round-engaged columns with acanthus capitals
located in the middle of the facade. The second-story openings maintain
the rhythm of the block with paired windows at each side and two three-window
groupings in the middle. The decoration of windowhoods and cornice is richly
detailed yet restrained. The building is currently vacant. (See photo 24))

Building No. 48 is a two-story, brick building with two equallyspaced window
openings which currently housesthe Sweet Shop. The building is decorated with
stamped-metal windowhoods, cornice and brackets. The cast-iron pilasters
remain at the edges of the first-story facade. The building continues the row
of two-story buildings at the north end of the Second Street block forming the
wall around the courthouse. (See photo 27.)

Building No. 49 is currently Dr. Dah Munnell's offices. It is a two-story, brick
building with three equally-shaped window openings and is decorated with
stamped-metal windowhoods and cornice. Cast-iron pilasters remain at the
edges of the first-story facade. The building is a continuation of the two-story
buildings along Second Street which form the wall embracing the courthouse

square. (See photo 27.)

Building No. 50 is presently a doctor's office. This two-story, brick building

with two equally-spaced window openings has angular, pedimental win-

dowhoods, and a simple cornice of stamped metal. The building, with its broad
facade and ornate windowhoods, continues the wall of Second Street containing

the courthouse square. It is nearly identical in height with those buildings at

the Irvine end of Second Street and similar in size with those of First Street.

The first-floor facade opening has been replaced by glass and brick. (See photo 27.)

Building No. 51 is a two-story, brick building withtrim of stamped-metal win-
dowhoods, cornices, brackets, and metal attic grills. The upper facade has

six closely-spaced openings with square hoodmolds. The elegant, simple struc-
ture,with its decoration painted white, completes the block of Second Street
framing the courthouse square. (See photo 27.)

(continued)
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BLOCK G

Building No. 52 was originally a one-story building designed as a church (Methodist).
It now houses professional offices and dwellings (second story). The entrance, once
on Second Street across from the I,0.0.F, Hall, explains the setback from the
facade line. The building was a typical vernacular brick church with two towers
flanking the main entrance. The height of the towers is nearly the same as the
I1.0.0.F. Hall and only slightly higher than the cleaners on Second Street. Thus,

in contrast to the more vertically accentuated churches on West Main Street, this
church, with its proximity to the courthouse, is restrained and allows the court-
house to remain prominent, although at least one of the towers probably had a

spire originally. The former transept gable to the west is framed by a more promi-
nent brick Lombard arcade or cornice. The fenestration has, of course, been
completely altered for the sake of this extreme example of adaptive reuse. (See
photo 28.)

BLOCK H

Building No. 53 is the I.0.0.F. Hall (second story) and the Warehouse Sales store
(first story). This magnificent building belonged at the turn of the century to
Mr. W.S. Oldham, who operated a furniture store on the street floor, and appar-
ently an undertaking establishment either below (the side street slopes steeply
downward to the north away from the courthouse square) or above. The treatment
of the second and third floors as one vast story (now split into two separate stories),
however, suggests that the building may always have housed a meeting hall above
street level (see also the similar building in the Downtown Versailles Historic
District, Woodford County, placed on the National Register September 2, 1975).

The facade originally had a prominent broken pediment with a circular opening in
the center rising over the cornice which has large brackets between the pairs of
attic windows (see photo 30A). Openwork scrolls once extended the central feature
still farther. The main story is also organized to emphasize the center, with a
dentillated pediment on paired pilasters enclosing the central arched two-story
window. This is flanked by smaller, narrow windows with their own small pedi-
ments and, at the ends, by more round-arched windows almost equal in size and

(continued)
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BLOCK H continued

height to the central one but lacking pediments over their paneled frames. All these
features are of stamped metal imitating stone or wood. In spite of the scale of the
composition, the details are sufficiently delicate not to provide competition with the
public buildings in the courthouse square (the jail is opposite) and, in fact, this tall
structure, with the former church to the west, helps define the corner of the square.

The first-floor facade has been completely remodelled (on the courthouse square
elevation) and reglazed with plate glass and aluminum. A smaller-scaled, two-story
part to the right side shares the new shopfrontwith its over-scaled sign. (See photos
29, 30, and 30A.)

Building No. 54, formerly the Richmond Steam Laundry, is the Wells General Store.
It has been slightly remodelled to contain an office with a separate front entrance. It
is a two-story, brick building with three, equally spaced, window openings. The brick
above the windows is a header course forming a flat arch connecting to projected
courses stretching across the entire facade. The simple building is the same height
as the lower portion of the I.0.0. F. building to its left and similar to those on the
back part of Second Street toward Irvine and those on First Street. (See photos 29 and
29A.)

Building No. 55 is the Madison County Fire Department and the City-County Ambu-
lance Service. The modern garage doors have been added without disrupting the
original facade. It is a one-story, painted brick building with no applied decoration.
This simple building, behind the courthouse and not seen from Main Street, isunim-
posing in design. This structure was the first livery stable in Richmond. (See photos
29 and 31.) ‘

Building No. 56, the Miller House, has recently been restored to approximately its
original design. The Chamber of Commerce and the Historical Society now have
offices in this building. Brightly painted, it is a source of considerable community
pride. The Miller Househelonged first to the daughter of Col. John Miller, the farmer
whose land became Richmond. The house is typical of early houses in the area,
although at some point in its varied history Gothic trim was added to the eaves and
gable, Tudor labels appeared over the second-story windows, and the two first-story
openings were enlarged. Although not the normal building use of those others in the

(continued)
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BLOCK H continued

area, it is in the rear of the courthouse square,which never has been a highly built-up
area. The house is of the same material as the other buildings, brick, and in keeping
with the facade line and near the scale of the other buildings on First Street. It also
defines the corner of the space. (See photos 31 and 32.)

BLOCK 1

Building No. 57 is the Old Creamery. Now serving a residential use, it also had
served as a "house of ill repute.'" It is a two-story building with gabled second-
story windows. Being on the edge of the courthouse square and leading away from

the square on its 'backside,'" the smaller-scaled building, of residential nature,
leads to the residential area beyond and does respond to the Miller House on the
square itself. The building is brick, Flemish bond, painted. It has flat, brick arches
over the windows. Overall, it is an example of fine brick residential construction on
a small scale and without any applied decoration to its flat walls. The gable on the
facade may well have been added in the mid-19th century to bring an earlier structure
up to date. (See photo 33.)

BLOCK J

Building No. 58 is the Package Liquor Store. Unfortunately the original decoration
on this two-story building was removed. This is a now very simple brick building
which ends the row of buildings on North First Street and is in keeping with the scale,
size, and proportion of the block. Its cornice and hoodmoulds could easily be re-
structured to complete this unique row. (See photo 34 and 38A.)

Building No. 59 is actually eight businesses: Taylor's Liquors, Marcum's Bargain,
Marcum's Ready-to-Wear, Red Lantern, Sam's Pawn Shop, City Restaurant, Beer
Bar, Elmer's Barber Shop. This two-story building has been divided into eight sepa-
rate establishments. The six side units each have two equally-spaced second-story
windows and the central unit, four. The cornice in the center of the building rises to
form a rounded pediment. This motif, along with the use of identical design and dec-
oration of stamped-metal windowhoods, cornices, and brackets, unifies the entire
group of buildings, thus creating the flat wall confining the courthouse square. Paired
brackets between the attic windows provide accenting divisions which maintain the

(continued)
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BLOCK J continued

proportion of this extensive facade with the adjacent, smaller buildings. The pattern
of the building has been maintained although minor remodelling (replacement of wooden
panels and glass lights over doors by signs) has occurred. (See photos 34, 34A, 35, 36,
37, and 38A.)

Building No. 60 is the Army Goods Store. The cast-iron first-floor facade is pre-
served in its totality in this two-story building. There are three equally-spaced
window openings on the second story. Slender, fluted Corinthian pilasters on the
edge and columns in the center frame the doorway. The building is entirely in keeping
with the rest of the block in size, proportion, and decoration. (See photos 34, 34A,
35, 36, 37, and 38A.)

Building No. 61 is Taylor's 8: Lunch, Beer, Pool. The two-story brick building
forms a unit with Buildings No. 60 and 62. (See photos 34, 34A, 35, 36, 37, and 38A.)

Building No. 62 is the Beer, Lunch, Dance. This two-story brick building has under-
gone some modernization. The windowhoods have been removed, but the stamped-
metal cornice and brackets remain. The original cast-iron columns on the first story
have been kept. The glass facade has been removed and a brick infill was constructed
and the facade reglazed. The building, in size, proportion, and height, is in keeping
with the entire block. (See photos 34, 35, 36, 37, and 38A.)

Building No. 63 currently houses one half of the Southern Dollar Store. The building
has four equally-spaced openings on the second floor. Cast-iron, fluted Corinthian

pilasters remain behind the newer signs and appear on the edges at the facade.
Similar to the other facades on the southern half of the block it has, however, square
hoodmoulds and attic windows. (See photos 35, 36, 37, 38, and 38A.)

Building No. 64 currently houses one half of the Southern Dollar Store. It matches
Buildings No. 60 - 62, This building, which faces First Street, functions to 'turn
the corner" into the courthouse square open space. Built prior to 1860, the building
once housed the Francis House, an inn where David R. Francis, Governor of Missouri
and Ambassador to Russia, was born. (See photos 35, 36, 37, 38, and 38A.)

(continued)
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BLOCK J continued

Building No. 43 is Garland Jett's Men's Wear. The lower facade of this two-story,
brick building has been reglazed and slightly redesighed. The building has been
painted red with brick detailing. Brick decoration appears around the windows as
hoods, but there are only receding . and projecting cornice courses for the upper
facade decoration. This is a simple, straghtforward building which continues the
enclosed urban space extending down Main Street,forming a corridor to the court-
house square. (See photo 38A.)

BLOCK K

Building No. 65 is the Madison County Courthouse,placed on the National Register
on May 12, 1975. It is a powerful architectural variant on the Greek Revival
temple-form public building. It consists of a two-story, large-scale, longitudinal
block with integral portico flanked by lower latitudinal wings with end-gables. The
smaller pilaster system continues around the wings, but only under the portico and
at the corners of the main block, although all but the facade of the main block and
the fronts and ends of the wings are now hidden by later additions. The front view
remains, however, essentially as it was originally except for the painted surface,
which may not have been original,and the replacement of small-paned sash with
single-paned sash. An early view of the building also shows small, one-story,
flat-topped, columnar porches on the center bay of each wing; these were removed
about 1890 and the opening replaced by a window. These porches must have empha-
sized the contrast in scale between the main block, probably always the seat of the
courtroom on the second story, and the wings,with their direct access from ground
level to offices and other daily services. (See photos 39 and 40.)

The portico is a very impressive one. The frieze of prominent triglyphs dominates
the design and assures the continuity of portico and main block as it continues unin-
terrupted over the lower roofs of the wings. The wings have a similar cornice at
correspondingly smaller scale, also with highly visible mutules over triglyphs and
within the pediments. The four full columns supporting the portico are of the
"Roman Doric" order with shallow bases, rings, and bands of rosettes at the capi-
tal, and a thin cushion (abacus) projecting beyond the architrave. The square

(continued)
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BLOCK K continued

pilasters lack rosettes and are simply reduced in scale on the wings. The spacing
of pilasters is carefully aligned with the triglyphs with an additional triglyph at the
center of the portico allowing for a wider intercolumination facing the main entrance.
The extra height of the central block allows for the greater height of the courtroom.
The columns of the portico and the pilasters on the walls rest on a low foundation.

The location of the courthouse is the typical Kentucky county square, in this case,
gently sloping up from the surrounding streets toward the building. The commercial
structures that define the square retain their Victorian scale and still allow the
courthouse to dominate by its simple forms and grand scale. In spite of the addi-
tions, there remains enough open space around at least the sides of the structure to
allow for mature trees and some sense of the traditional square. The proportional
system of the porticos described above is particularly handsome and a satisfying
one. However, the cupola seems somewhat small in scale for the blocks below. It
may be that the architect thereby reveals a certain discomfort in the attempt to com-
bine the usual courthouse tower with the rigid requirements of the classical temple.
The octagonal cupola sits back from the portico over the first bay of the main block.
A plain pedestal is surmounted by the simply paneled clock stage with its four faces.
Above, the lantern has very slender Ionic columns at the eight corners with arched
louvered openings on the four main sides. A delicately modelled cornice carries

the low curved, eight-sided roof and fish-modelled weathervane. Although handsome
in its own right from a distance, when seen close up this tower does not hold its own
against the bold Doric treatment of the building itself. At a certain distance, however,
it does relate to the smaller pediments at the ends of the windows, and perhaps
originally still more to the side porches.

The courthouse extensions that fill in the ells between the main block and the original
wings, which are set almost at the plane of the main facade, have a stripped classi-
cal intent., Widely spaced windows are set in recessed vertical panels and there is a
parapet around the roof related to the frieze. A less sympathetic structure has re-
cently been added at the rear of the building which otherwise retains the original
fenestration of three stories fitted into the two of the front.

Extensive alterations were made in the mid-1890s under the supervision of the pro-
lific Cincinnati firm of Crapsey and Brown. According to a notice in the Inland Architect,

(continued)
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BLOCK K continued

these additions were to cost about $15,000, then a considerable sum. Although
much of this remodelling has apparently been swallowed up in later alterations
(most notably in 1965), a lavish but heavy-handed marble and bronze staircase
survives in the main vestibule. The main courtroom (which displays several
important early portraits of Kentucky jurists) has recently been drastically al-
tered with the addition of pine panelling and reorientation of the dais. Most of
the rest of the interior has been repeatedly "modernized.'" Nevertheless, the
virtually intact exterior portion of the building retains great distinction. To the
rear of the courthouse are a very large jail of distinctive Italianate design, and a
matching jailer's residence.
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Buildings 44 and 45, the Madison County Jail and Jailer's House, are located northwest
of the Courthouse on the square itself. They are among the largest, oldest, and archi-
tecturally most interesting examples of their functions in the State.

The Jail has four stories including the ground floor (photos 41 and 42). The bays between
the cells are marked by flat pilaster strips topped by paired brackets. The cornice of
the flat-roofed structure, like that of the attached jailer's house, has a unique cutout
pattern under the eaves between the brackets. There are elaborate castiron hoodmolds
over the windows of the top story of the jail and both stories of the (west) front of the
‘house. The jail windows are connected vertically by recessed panels with a modern

and functional effect.

The jailer's residence, linked to the jail by a recessed rear wing and a one-story frame
connector, has only two stories and a basement, but its cornice level is continuous

with that of the jail, partially because of the higher ground on the west (photos 41-43).
The house has large single or double two-over-two-pane sash with square incised stone
lintels. There is an attractive three-bay porch on paired square piers with openwork
curved spandrels on the west side (photos 43-44), A smaller entrance between the two
structures faces the rear of the courthouse (photo 45). These buildings are in good
condition and form an integral part of the important Courthouse Square and downtown
historic district,



Form No. 19-300a

fev. 10-74)
| ’ 7UNITI:‘D STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE .
RECEIVED :
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES SEP 50 1570
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM DATEENTERED

Downtown Richmond Historic District
CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER 8§ PAGE 2

ARCHITECTURE continued

19th-century Federal house or inn on the south side; two former residences at the
northeast corner; a striking over-scaled meeting-hall-over-store at the northwest
corner; a handsome Italianate hotel building on the west side of the square; and a
uniquely intact unified facade on the east with Baroque central pediment. Some of
the turn-of-the-century facades are also fine in their own right, particularly the
handsome and virtually intact Beaux-Arts Classical bank building opposite the
portico of the courthouse. But most of the remainder of the facades in the district
retain some evidence of their late 19th-century construction with lavish Italianate
hoodmolds, pilasters or quoins, and cornices or corbelled brickwork. (For addi-
tional architectural description and history, see #7.)

HISTORY

The city of Richmond is located on the buffalo trace that served as one of the main
arteries into Kentucky during the earliest days of exploration and settlement.
Daniel Boone followed this particular trace from Virginia to Kentucky through the
Cumberland Gap to the site where he founded Boonesboro. The trail he blazed, as
well as the branch of it leading north to Boonesboro through Richmond, became
known as the Wilderness Road.

Despite the many settlers traveling this road through the Madison County area,
Richmond was established as the county seat only in 1798. Madison County, which
is just south of Fayette County and located in the rich Bluegrass region of the state,
was created from part of Lincoln in 17865 thus becoming the fifth county, and had as
its first county seat the town of Milford. Milford had an inadequate water supply,

however, and was not centrally located within the newly desighated county
boundaries. For these reasons, and because certain prominent Madison countians
lived nearer Richmond than Milford, the county seat was transferred after a few
years to Richmond, four and one-half miles to the northeast.

The site chosen for the new county seat was a ridge overlooking the countryside.
The highest point on the ridge is occupied by five churches; the courthouse and
square occupy the broad flat area upon the ridge, beyond which the land drops off
rapidly, A.ppropriately, the courthouse supplants the Mt. Nebo Church which
stood there before, and it has the church's foundation within those of its own.

(continued)
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HISTORY continued

The early white settlers were aware of the physical characteristics of the ridge,
and took advantage of them. At the site of the present courthouse were found
remnants of an early Indian (most likely Mound Builders) structure and perhaps
a council house, referred to by the settlers as a Town House. Their name for
this structure was derived from the Town Fork of Dreaming Creek which is
located in the area.

The city did not have its origin as a stockade or fort, nor did the land encompass
a plantation or farms compound. William Hoy, who came to Boonesboro in 1755
and lived for some time at George Boone's Station near Foxtown, claimed the land
by preemption after an initial claim by Thomas Johnson; Hoy's successful land
company, comprised of himself, Lawrence Thomson, and James McMillan,
simply held the property. However, in 1785,
Hoy lost the Richmond area property of one thousand acres to John Miller in a
horse race. (The settlement and preemption rights were often awarded as the
prize to the owner of the winning horse at the two racetracks begun in 1783, one
at Boonesboro and the other at Shallow Road, four and one-half miles northwest
of Richmond.) Between 1785 and 1798, John Miller moved from Estill Station
to the Richmond area to settle on his property, having built by 1798 a log-hewn
cabin on what is now the corner of East Main and Madison streets (below the
courthouse square), a barn (near the present courthouse), and a brick kiln far-
ther up on the ridge.

Court was first held in John Miller's barn and later in the log cabin. The 1798
state order which constituted the first building and zoning instructions pertaining
to Richmond read:

The ridge near John Miller's barn and brick kiln is
appointed and fixed on for the permanent seat of
justice for this county. The court shall purchase
two acres of ground from Colonel John Miller and

(continued)
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HISTORY continued

the sheriff is directed to lay off the prison bounds,
with the jail in the center, and to build the stocks,
whipping post and stray-pen. 1

In 1799 a two-story brick building was built by artisan Tyra Rhodes and remained
for fifty years on the site of the present courthouse. In 1809 Richmond, having

been named on July 4, 1798, by John Miller in honor of his birthplace of Richmond,
Virginia, was incorporated, and Colonel Miller donated fifty acres of land surround-
ing the initial two acres which belonged to the county court. There were three hun-
dred and sixty-six residents in the census of 1810, and it had become a little log-
processing community with a tavern at Main and First streets. By 1818 a steam-
driven cotton-spinning company, a thriving hand-hewn nail business, a weekly
newspaper and book printing shop, a saddle shop, hemp and rope furniture factories,
a log hotel, and an independent bank were established in Richmond. A bridge, in
place of a mill dam crossing, was constructed over Dreaming Creek at the end of
East Main Street.

In the space of twenty years since its founding, Richmond had become as county

seat the economic center of Madison County. In the heart of the city, the courthouse
square retained its original boundaries, which were described in the deed to Madison
County for the courthouse property. Within this space was the brick courthouse of
1799 containing the courtroom, city clerk's office, and a log jail where the present
jail now stands.

The property within the initially decreed fifty acres of the town was surveyed by
John Cooke, who laid out the city in rectangular blocks arranged in an orthogonal
grid (see 1804 plat). The individual plats of these blocks were laid out on the
north-south axis. This arrangement created a narrow frontage (in regard to the
depth of the plat which stretched from street in front to street behind) on the three
main east-west streets of the center: Water, Main, and Irvine. This plan of 1804

1By—laws and Ordinances of the City of Richmond, Kentucky, 1801,

(continued)
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HISTORY continued

did not encourage development of the frontage of the two end lots, each stretching
from Main to Irvine, one along First Street and the other along Second, on the
courthouse square. Yet in the third known extant plat made of Richmond (1876),
the alignment of these two plats had changed drastically in the courthouse area.

It appears that three plats on First Street and two plats on Second Street had been
joined and their division and orientation changed to the east-west axis which pro-
moted frontage on the courthouse square. The realignment of these properties
responded to the prominent role of the courthouse and square and the activities
that occurred within it, as opposed to the simple mechanical division of property
evident in the initial survey. A market established on the northeast corner of
the square in 1810 was moved in 1852 by court order into the square along the
length of First Street where it remained until sometime after World War II, and
the space created for it there remains today. Even in the 1930s, this market
was functioning economically with its tertiary uses: musicians and magicians
entertained the populace on warm summer evenings.

The physical improvements of the courthouse and roads in Richmond were also
expressive of the people's interest in enhancing the image of their institution and
its surroundings and in increasing its accessibility and use. In 1800 the inhabi~
tants voted to have Main Street made into a passable road and a good road con-
structed around all four sides of the courthouse. The county court did as asked,
except for Irvine Street behind the courthouse which remained a cow patch. Later,
in 1835, First and Second streets around the square were macadamized, as was
East Main from the bridge to First. Earliey in 1830, Main Street in front of the
courthouse had been improved.

As county seat, Richmond's finest and costliest improvement was the still-standing
courthouse built in 1849-50 at a cost of $40,000 (listed on the National Register

May 12, 1975). At that time the county had a population of 15,727 and the city,

about 800. Although the cost was high, there is no record of popular dissent over
the desire to find an architect of high caliber for the new courthouse. The scale of
this grand, imposing edifice and its cost were expressions of the people's desire to
create a proper image of the most important and powerful institution of their society.
From the time of its construction until the present, the commanding presence of

(continued)
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HISTORY continued
this building has not been violated by subsequent construction within the range of
its visual influence.

There were other changes that responded to the importance of the county court,
both in its courthouse and in the internal space created around it. The city limits
of Richmond have reacted also to West Main Street, the primary entrance, and the
square itself, The first plan of 1804 was rectangular on the east-west axis defined
approximately by the following streets: North and North Wellington to the South
Collins on the East, and Lancaster Pike on the west; furthermore, the center divi-
sion was at the corner of West Main and Second streets. In 1837 the limits were
extended on the north, an equal distance to the south, one half that distance to the
east, and four times as far on the west to Norwood Street. Emphasizing the west,
these two demarcations of city limits respond to the predominance of western access
roads to Richmond, as well as to the higher land to be found there. After the initial
growth of Richmond and the new courthouse of 1850, the city limits were enlarged
to a circle with a radius of about three-eighths of a mile from a center at the court-
house. Again in 1898, the limits were extended from the center, the courthouse, to
a one-half mile radius. Thus, the City of Richmond,with its central position in
Madison County, has as its virtual and actual center the courthouse together with the
court square, the central meeting place of the citizens.

The regulations regarding building construction in Richmond are silent about how
scale, proportion, and size came into play with regard to later construction within
the courthouse periphery. The first official building codes appear in "The City
Ordinances of Richmond, Kentucky, 1893-94.'" These mention that '"No wooden
buildings, with wooden outside walls or roofs covered with shingles or other wooden
buildings shall hereafter be erected in the city of Richmond until a permit for same
is granted." It is interesting to note the mention of the word 'hereafter." This
term suggests that these were the first building codes to be enacted. Further codes
of 1897 and 1903 enlarge upon the use only of fire retardant materials and construc-
tion details, awning heights, and other miscellaneous building construction require-
ments. Since most extant construction in the center of Richmond was done previous
to or within this time period, all structures were designed by individuals who
apparently respected the inherent architectural and cultural significance of the

(continued)
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HISTORY continued
courthouse and square as county seat without legal constraints but through a sense
of shared community values.
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Christ Episcopal Church in Richmond is located on a corner a block south of Main
Street at the foot of a considerable slope. The cluster of churches at this point marks
the junction of the downtown public/commercial area of Main Street and the entrance
to Lancaster Avenue. In the 19th century, as now, Lancaster Avenue was a tree-
lined street of large-scale residences leading to the town's major educational
institution (now Eastern Kentucky University).

Interest in an Episcopal Church at Richmond was evidenced in diocesan records before
the Civil War. It was not until 1871 (possibly 1874), however, that the first church--
a Gothic Revival frame structure--was erected by a 'flock. . . composed almost entirely
of zealous women,'" These few represented several of the most prominent families

of Madison County. In 1887 the present church building was erected on a different
site from the earlier structure, thanks to the increase in the size of the congregation,
as well as the generosity of a few donors as indicated in the newspaper article
attached. Nevertheless, the congregation retained missionary status until 1956, with
an itinerant ministry from Lexington and neighboring Bluegrass county seats. The
first known rector, for instance, was the Reverend Isaac Gibson from Danville, as
early as 1869. After a decade of non-missionary status, the church building was
renovated in 1963.

Christ Episcopal Church is the earliest extant church structure in the town. It was
designed by an unknown architect in a strikingly unadorned and handsome variant of

the Romanesque Revival style. It is executed almost entirely in brick, with stone
trim used only for the sills and a belt-course at sill-level below the triple openings on
each side of the uppermost stery of the corner tower. The tower has a fairly high
pyramidal roof and almost-bare walls dotted only with small stair-window openings.

On the south and west sides, flanking the tower, are very large round-arched

windows with prominent mullions set in expanses of bare wall. The main entrance is
through the base of a truncated tower at the north end of the west facade, and there

is also an entrance at the lower level of the sloping site in the south face at the

base of the tower. The lack of projecting eaves and cornice, the high proportion

of bare wall to openings, the bold proportions of the triangular gables and round-arched

(continued)
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openings, all produce a stripped affect unusual in a design presumably inspired by the
Romanesque Revival works of Boston architect H. H. Richardson. The basically
centralized plan of the auditorium--although the chancel is recessed behind a large
round arch--is also unusual for a 19th-century Episcopal church, although perhaps
inspired by Richardson's Trinity church in Boston.

The attached copy of an undated newspaper article includes both an account of the building
with its accouterments shortly after its completion and a record of the changes made
during the 1963 renovations. It appears from these that very few alterations indeed

have occurred in the 90 years since the erection of the building. In spite of the
impressive memorial fittings, it appears likely that the simplicity and boldness of
massing and surface, and the lack of ornament both inside and out, as well as the

lack of later "improvements) may have reflected the missionary status of the church.
Nevertheless, it is these very qualities and the underlying good design sense of the
unknown architect that may be responsible for the building's appeal to many modern
tastes.

Sources: - Research by Mrs. Charles C. Combs, David Greene, and Lyman Chalkley.
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"Charter of the City of Richmond, Madison County, Kentucky (as per an act of the
General Assembly of Kentucky Incorporating Cities of the Fourth Class,
approved June 28, 1893, afd amendments thereto of 1894 and 1898)"
and '"By-Laws and Ordinances of the City of Richmond, Kentucky, 1901."

Chenault, William. '"Early Madison County History 1770-1790." Unpublished
manuscript, 1882,

"Richmond, Its Past, Present and Future." Unpublished
paper read before the Filson Club, November 26, 1897.

Dorris, Jonathan Truman,and Maud Weaver. Glimpses of Historic Madison County,
Kentucky. Nashville: Williams Printing Company, 1955.

Dorris, Jonathan Truman. Old Cane Springs. A Story of the War Between the
States in Madison County, Kentucky. Louisville; The Standard Printing
Company, 1937.

Filson, John. Discovery, Settlement, and Present State of Kentucky. Prepared for
the Filson Club by Thomas Speed.. Filson Club Publications No. 2. Louis-
ville: John P. Morton and Company, 1886.

Gallion, Arthur B.,and Simon Eisner. The Urban Pattern, City Planning and Design .
Princeton, New Jersey: D. Van Nostrand Company, Inc., 1963,

Harney, Mrs. Clarence. ''"Pioneer and Historical Homes of Madison County, "
Unpublished paper read before the Art and Literature Department,
Richmond Woman's Club, February 17, 1944.

Historical Madison County, Souvenir Program, Civil War Centennial Pageant,
Richmond, Kentucky, October 3, 4, 5, 1962.

Ireland, Robert M. The County Courts in Antebellum Kentucky. Lexington, Kentucky:
The University Press of Kentucky, 1972.

(continued)
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Kentucky Pioneer Richmond, Kentucky: Madison County Historical Society, 1968-
1973. I-1V, nos. 1-4,

Reps, John W. Town Planning in Frontier America. Princeton, New Jersey:
Princeton University Press, 1971.

Richmond Daily Register. Fifteenth Anniversary Edition (December 1, 1967).

Rone, Wendell H., Sr. An Historical Atlas of Kentucky and Her Counties. Daviess
County Sesquicentennial Edition, Kentucky, 1965.

Sanborn Map. Sanborn Map Company, Inc., 1886, 1895, 1901, 1907, 1912, 1926.

Tunnard, Christopher,and Henry Hope Reed. American Skyline, The Growth and
Form of Our Cities and Towns. New York: The New American Library
of World Literature, Inc., 1956.

Chamber of Commerce Publications, 1962.
Souvenir Edition of Climax , July 27, 1898.

Interviews:; Mrs. Paul Jett, Mrs. Lottie Baxter, Mrs. Ellen Smatters, Mrs. Elizabeth
Collins, Mr. David Green, Mr. George Baker, and Mr. Howard L. Colyer.

Much of the general statement physical description was derived from Nona Ellis Dripps,

"Richmond, Kentucky: Cultural Influences in Town Design As County Seat," A
Report on the Architectural Significance of Downtown Richmond for the City of
Richmond, Department of Community Development, November 3, 1975.
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E. 16/738040/4181080 F. 16/738080/4181180
G. 16/738110/4181160 H. 16/738130/4181200
1. 16/738320/4181110 J. 16/738360/4181200

Beginning at the far northeast corner of the district, the boundary includes only the

old Creamery on East Irvine Street; the remaining buildings to the east are modern.
The boundary continues south along the property lines of structures fronting on North
1st Street and extending along East Main 143 feet, with the remaining structures eastward
on Main being modern. The boundary extends 136 feet on the south side of the East
Main block, again excluding modern structures eastward. The southern boundary
crosses South lst, 2nd, and 3rd Streets, following the rear property lines of buildings
facing Main. The far southwest end of the district extends to Water Street to
encompass Christ Episcopal Church on the northeast corner of Lancaster and Water.
Following the west side of Lancaster Street, the boundary extends northward to Main,
makes a slight jog eastward, then northward again along the west side of Church Street
to include buildings fronting on West Main Street to North 2nd Street. The lines

turn northward along 2nd, including property lines of structures fronting on 2nd Street
northward to the Old Methodist Church building, then turning eastward behind the
church building to enclose the Odd Fellows Hall, the Wells General Store, the Madison
County Fire Department, all fronting on Irvine Street. On the east corner of East
Irvine and North lst Street is the Creamery.
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This laundry was established in 1889
by Fautes Tevis and a stock company,
vnder which wanagement it continued
antil 1990, when it was purchased by
Siewars, DR and TR Tevise the
preant eflicient proprictors,

RS @Y A Rapons o 1 LR oA
J?& T LR B it e A g frey
ST e LY A N e PN

At

4
B

chine. The facilitics to do business
are the very best, the plant having a
capacity of 8,000 collars and 1,500
shirts.  Branches are established at
Trvine, Panola, Millers Creek, Berea
and other points,

Gl PefoDrirdel Dol

Richmond Cold Storage and Ice Co,,
which will be open for business on
June 1st, this year, promises. to-cclipso
anything of its kim{ ever attempted in
this scction of the conutry, This com-
vany has a capitalized stock of $50,000,

acked by men whose long experience
in the ice and cold storage business
and whose success, to say the least,
has beent phenomenal, is a guarantee
of the success of this institution.

Mr. Geo. A. Morris, Jr.,, who, with
his two plants at Mexico and Mob-
crly, Mo., control the ice business in

e stored at any or all {imes, cggs,

b
Eoultry, fruits, meats, all kinds of

quids, «tc.

The building, when completed, will
be so arranged that the cold storage
rooms can he increased on short no-
tice. The ice plant will he equipped
with all the newest and Tatest facilities
for making pure ice. lee shipped from
this plant will be absolutely pure, as
it will be manulactured from water
distilled from steam that has been
“boiled” twice at the "hottest” tem-
perature known. As the plant is lo-

FRONT AND SIDK VIKW OF PLANT UNDIR CONSTRUCTION,

that scction, is President. Mr. W. A.
L.ogan, who was rcared at Nicholas-
ville, Ky., but who has becen engaged
in business in Iowa for a number of
years, is the Secretary, Treasurer and
General Manager. Mr: W, B. Craven
is chief engincer,

The plant is 152 feet long and 84
fect wide. In this will be combined
the two Dbusinesscs, the ice and cold
storage. The capacity of the ice plant
will he 50 tons daily, They will have
50,000 cubic feet of cold storage, di-
vided inta six diffcrent rooms, with
different temperatures, in which may

cated near the railroads, a switeh will
be put in, which will conncect the plant
with the main lines,

The company will pet their water
for making the ice from their own
for making the ice from their own lake,
which they arc having made at an
cnormous expense,  As this will be
the only cold storage plant on the L,
& N. railroad from Cincinnati, Ohio,
to Atlanta, Ga, in fact the oniy up-
to-date industry of its kind in Ceun-
tral Kentucky, we prediet for it a
bright future,
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View of Building No. 54 (originally
Richmond Steam Laundry).
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W. S. OLDHAM,

Furniture and Undertaking,

Successor to Biggerstaff & Oldham,
has been established in Richimond for
the past seven years. In this mam-
moth establishment can be found the
most complete and up-to-date house-
hold furnishings in this county, and,
furtliecrmore, at prices that are con-
sistent with the pood quality of goods,
such as iron, brass, wood heds, fold-
ing beds of all kinds; parlor and bed-
room suits, with prices ranging from
the moderate to the high-priced, to
suit the convenience of your purse.
frull ine of chairs, settees, couches,
divans, lounges, baby carringes, lace
curtains, rugs, one of the handsomest
lines of carpets and mattings in the
city, dining, center and Kitchen tables,
window  shades, mirrors —from the
French plate beveled glass to the
small hand-glass; besides carrying a
larpe stock of molding and pieture
frames.

Mre. Oldham does not depend upon
the local murkets rom which to buy
his furniturve, but buys dircet from the
Jarge manutacturers throughout the
North and [ast in large quantities,
thereby enabling him to compete with
his competitors in prices, style and
quality of goods,  Tle also makes a
specialty  of fine leather goods, and
his present stoek is, perhaps, the larg-
est and hnest ever shown in Madison
county. 1lis furuiture storceroom oc-
cupics a depth of 115 feet by 40-foot
width,  Ths stoek is arranged in a
maost systematic and artistic manner,
making it possible to show any article
in stock, with very little trouble and
good lights,

Mr. Oldham has made 1t a point to
guarantee every article which he sells,
If a customer makes a purchase and
it does not prove satisfactory, he not
only takes it back, hut is anxious to
get it back,  His matto is, “If not
right, T will make it right.” On this
basis he has succeeded in establishing
an cnormous trade among the people
of this county.

His undertaking  and  embalming
department, which nceupies the same
depth of floor space and nearly as
much width as his furniture room, is
one of the largest and most complete
establishments of ity kind in this sce-
tion of the State. To this department
Mr. Oldham devotes special attention,
The stock of oudertaking  supplies,
such as enskets, burial robes, ete,, as
h o . 3y . N v MY B
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Supplement to Richmond Climax

May 24, 1905 Photo 30A

- View of Building No. 53 (W.S. Old-
ham Furniture and Undertaking).
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WINES & CREEKMORE,

DRUGGISTS.

For the past thirty years the corner
on which this firm is located, has been
known as ‘“the best” drugstore in
Richmond. By virtue of its central
location and the high quality of drugs
kept -here it has become the favorite
drug store of the town. Mr. E. C
Wines, the senior proprietor, has been
associated with the drug trade in
Richmond for the past twenty-three

years, Ile is at present the oldest
prescription druggist in the city, Ten
years ago he became the sole owner
of this store, and it is due to experi-
ence in this business, natural business
ability and courtesy to his customers
that 1t is said, “that no store in Rlch-
mond has as large a patronage and is
as pnpular with ull elasses of pcople
as ‘Wines." "

The stock of mmds caryvied by this
enterprising firm is one of the largest
and maost complete in Richmond,

Pure drugs, druggists’ sundries and
druggists’ supplies compose the bulk
of their stock. They also carry a fine
line of perfumes, toilets, soaps, station-
ery, cigars and tobacco. On Mar. 1 a
change was made in this firm, by
which Mr. H. C. Creekmore became
part owner. Mr. Creekmore is one of
our cleverest citizens, who has a le-
gion of friends throughout the county,
and whose patronage will naturally
follow him in his present business.
Pure drugs are as essential to the wel-

fare of the people as pure food. and to
Wines & Creekmore must be given
the distinction of handling only this
class. ~ This fact becomes apparent
when it is known that it is no unusual
occurrence for Mr. Wines to com-
pmlmd as many as forty perscriptions
a day.

W%h two such thorough business
men and excellent gentlemen at the
helm of an enterprise it bids fair to

maintain its present standing, “The
leading drugstore of Richmond.”

GEO. M. WILLGING.

To this firm belongs the distinetion

of being the oldest wall paper, paint
and glass store in Riclunond.

The business was established in the

year of 1870 by Geo. M \Willging,

~tandard of excclleney g

MWalbene, cuvercded e g
U o T creeb b sy e
wiay has he vaned drom

poodso workmanslonp cond cog

[ HYTIT

der whose name the business is still
For nearly thirty-two
years Mr. Willging successfully con-
ducted this enterprise. When his death

his son, Phil.

The class of goods earried in stock
is the sume, such as wall paper, win-
dow  shades, paints, ofl, varnishes,
brushes, pietires and franies, window,
plate and art glass, mirrors, cte.
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Photo 23A

View of Building No. 39,and part of
No. 39 before false front added.
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OWEN MCKEE
DRY GOODS AND NOTIONS

OWEN McKEE

About forty years ago Mr. Owen
MeKee, of whaont we herewitl preseat
an excellent ikeness, began i a sall
way a general merchandise store in
Richmound, which he maost successful-
Iy conducted until his death, which
oceurred on July 1, 1903, The present
business, which s located on Man
ana Pirst streets, under this name,
managed by his son, Richard McKee,
was established etght years ago. The
name of Owen MeKee carries with it
a guarantee of quality, as the people
of Madison county learned years ago.
They are the exclusive caterers to her
najesty, “The American Lady.” Be it
known to all that there is not an arti-
cle which  goes  to  make Milady's
wardrobe complete  that  cannot be
found in this enterprising establish-
ment,

Their new spring and suwmer styles
are on display and it must be truthfully

said that a trip to any of our ncigh-
boring cities and careful inspection of
the large stocks carried there would
not reveal handsomer styles or hiner

quality of goods than can always be
had at the store of Owen McKee.
The Butterick pattern, which is now
carried exclusively by this firm, have

s OWEN Mol

P e

Koty o

EXTERIOR OF OWEN McKYY STORE

been reduced in price to 10, 15 and 20
cents. This pattern needs no intro-
duction in Richmond or elsewhere; it
sclls on its own merits.

The Delincator is also carried in
connection with the patterns; price
15 conts o copy or $1 a year.

Mal orders for any amount given
carctul aud prompt attention, Prices
consistent with quality is their motto,
aud one in which they have been most
persistent i lving up to. Only such
goods are handled as the house can
fully warrant.  They make a careful
study of the needs and desires of pa-
trons and pursue m the management
of thewr affairs the most systematic
muthods. ‘Their store, as the exterior
will plainly show, is one of the most
attractive m town.  The show win-
dows are elegant and show great art
in their dressing. They employ only
the politest and most cfticient clerks,
whose main aim 1s to please their
custonrers, namely,  Miss  Jennie
Meyers, Miss Mamye Campbell, Mrs.
Sallic Corntelson, Miss Lidia McKee,
Miss Annie McKee and R J. MceKee.
Richmond boasts of as many up-to-
date and city-hike stores as any town
of its sive in Kentucky, and McKee's
is one of them. They fully realize the
wants of the people and they carry
the best and latest of all articles to be
found in any dry goads house in Cen-
tral Kentucky.

Of Mr. Richard McKece personally
too much praise as a business man
cannot be given. Irom long and con-
stant association in a business way
with the people of this contmunity he
is thoroughly familiar  with their
wants and needs, and keeps his store
stocked with the right kind of goods.
Honorable, upright and gentlemanly
in all of his dealings with the public,
hie has tirmnly established himself and
business with the people of Richmond
and Madison county.

~
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Early view of Owen McKee Building.
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THE STATID BANK AND TRUST ol papers and other vaduables. These ]y (']I:ll‘g{(‘ﬁ of \F%, $1(), and ff«,)l), aceond - Toetoro o v oy )-“H" \“”[1‘ Contain -
. PR boxes are rented to the public at year- mg to the size, g the fwrids o the bank, s the Mos-
CO., OF thi‘MONl)' KY., - e e T e e T - B ler serew oot site, an tup-to date con-

trivance tor batthung burplars and safe
blowervs, wd which s gnaranteed to

\\3';1* Hl"u:mi{«l’tl ;“\i‘)Ll"‘f“” busmess on : . . { ]"',li;l’*'g‘”““,\i‘"Il[l'u]:ll“-ljl["'”‘t- ¢
Noverher 4th, 1897 10 Lus o paidoup . . : i Fhe Stave Bauk and Trust Company
capital stack ol $150,000, .s‘ul‘ph\]~; i ) . R - . J building  (shown o ilustration) s

fund of $10.500, and undivided profits constricted of Rockeastle stoue and

of FIROS 420 1S suecess and populari- marble,  and - Cclegantly - finished
ty demenstrates the ability and wis thiothon T e Tadsonest buss

mess bddome in e oty

CThe seee Bank and Trost Company
simeerely appreciate vone business i
thie past, and with wostronyg and vigor-
ous pranagement aud a splendid equip-
ment, it s prepared and willing to
make it to your advantage to contimue
your patronage and (o indinee your
fricnds to do so.

Lt solicits corvespondence, v a0 per-
sonmal visit from you o1 vour niends
relative to any of these wmntters,

dom ol s neutagenrent and  justities
the Tricmdshup and eontidence it of
o s patrons awd the public
Jarge. s present ofticers ave J. A,
Sullivan, President; L B tHanger,
Vice President; RoE Turley, Cashier;
[P0 Bvans, Tellers A1 FFaris,
Book-keeper, and AWilliim C. Smith,
Assrstant l’nn;k-kt'(')n‘l'. The divectars
are oA Salbivan, HE 1 langer, fL
MW Walker, Joe Codlins, John RO Gib-
o B D Pallard, David Chenanle,
W B Obdham, and James Noland.
Wath therr inrerests m sueh hoowds, pa-
trons atud stock hotders ave well as-
sured that they wil he sarely gnarded
and  conservatively wnd judicionsty
manaped. The stockholders e na
teron - aond conone the wealthiest andg
st nthuental anzens or Madison
county, Ky This bank has a0 capial
~tock e $E50.000, which 15 4 guaran
tee of 100,000 more tor the safety of
deposttors and all who do business
sith it than f s capnal stock were
only $100.0000 The soockhnlders’ Hia
Dty Taw s thie same under the State
and Federal Taw

Destdes dong a0 penceral banking
Dusiness, tlus mstitnton also siets as
excontor, suhmmstrator, trustee, g
dian, apent, e m o other judictary ea-
pacitics

lovery safeguard that skillb ean sug-
gest s been taken n, providing a
moderu bankimg  cquipntent. The
vaults are the  celebrated  Dichold
make, one of which is shown in the
Hlusteation, They ave hree and burg
tar-proot, and contam o namber of
safety deposit hoxes for the storing

STATE BANK AND TRUST CO. VAULT OF STATE BANK AND TRUST CO
MADISON NATIONAL BANK. with  them, promising  courtesy, RICHMOND NATIONAL BANK. With a capital stock of $100.600, and
- -7 ~promptness, accuracy and-liberality. "~ el surplus of 820,000, it is “JMO““I
- T e TTT&&QH)WNJ: ofticers are in charge of No business iustipwdtn in Richmond L_its financial strengelthan {or its

The st s Dopular institu- the busimesy_of this bank: W. Ben-  has better reagertto be proud of the  able Truggemeng—"
tion has bheeg gy diniry, cach suce- nett, Pregideimts . B. Deatherage, year's recoed”tlimacthis bank,  Since The afiicers.aT the bank are T, \WV,
ceeding Troof ity opsdrise heing  Viee-PeSident; R, rnam, Cash- 1ts orgarfization in it has re- Caperton PFesidoma ], Shelby Prvine,

. B, Hamilton, "I‘chr, d I T, sp .vd'wit}} fidelity o 1o

by siel substantiad maas to dery of the Vice DeeTidont; |, cal, Cash-
N T 1 L N L N aa P . = B FEY LY . -

e Yar  ame. i ns. s
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Early view and description of State
Bank and Trust Co.
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WHITE & GIBSON
DRY GOODS AND NOTIONS

N, V. WHITE,

This business is not of a mushroom
growtlt, hut started many ycars ago in
a small way. It has been slowly, but
surely established upon the firm foun-
dation of square dealing and good
goods, and now the good year of 1903
finds them supported by an army of
satisfied customers. They have no
war to make upon their ncighbors in
business, fecling satisficd to rest their
claims upon their merits, letting the
people who do the buying render the
verdict, never forgetting those whose
patronage they have enjoyed in the

past, nor shall they relinquish the:

efforts to merit a continuance of the
public’s favors, and they promise the
good people of Richmond and Madi-
son county that they shall redouble
their efforts to number among their
customers those whom they have not

heretofore had an opportunity to

They carry a full line of dry goods,
dress goods, notions, laces, embroid-

eries, ribbons, ladies’ furnishings,
mattings, linoleums, trunks and
valises.

Now is the time to buy your spring
and summer goods, and it would secmn

WHITE & GIBSON'S STORX.,

serve. Messrs, White & Gibson start-
ed this enterprise over cleven years
ago with this motto: “Good goods at
low prices; good treatment and plenty
of it,” and how well they have lived
up to their motto their many custom-
ers can testify,

to us poor policy on your part to buy
of the first comer without comparison.
If you would buy your goods right,
let everyone bid for your business and
et the best man win,

It is with this broad-minded and
fzarless policy that this firm appeals

JOHN R, GIBSON

to the public for a share of their
patronage.  They guarantee satisfac-
tion, realizing that a satished custom-
They
to their
stock of

cr is their best advertisement,
invite the public’s attention

and summer

new spring
zoods, which {for style and quality can-
not be surpassed in any of the city
stores.

As citizens, Richmond can boast of
qone better than Alessrs. White and
Gibson, both of whom are property
owners and taxpayers, who have the
best interest of their city in mind, and
who can always be relied upon to
further any project for its betterment.
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View of Buildings No. 18 and 19 before
alteration of corner. .o G
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D BSHACKELEFORD & CO. long been recognized as one of the  beeause of the conntless articles which
leaders. By buying in large quanti- must be hept oon ~ade o any  Gest
tres, continual turning over of stock,  class institetion of ths charvacter, The
making quality the first consideration,  magnitnde of the stock and the fa-

Hardware, Tmpicments, Eie,

Iicireomd can boar of asamany ap- this firme has built up a repotation cilities employed give to this estab-
teodate Landwaoe wnd npelnient es- - among the people of this county that  lishment a leading position in the
bli-finene oo sy town e Central will ast when others are forgotten. hardware and implement business of
Loentuckhy, aud none stand ont with Entering the establishment of 1. B, Madison county. The stock com-

tniore pronnneiice than the old estab-  Shackelford & Co., one is impressed prises a full line of shelf and build-
bohed e of DB Shackelford & Co. with the neatness and order which ing  hardware, cutlery, mechanics’
Manaped with conscrvativeness, and  characterizes the arrangement of the tools and tinware, and a big assort-
on strictly bnsiness principles, it has stock a task involving continual labor, ment of stoves and ranges. The im-
plement department contains the
— e —_— Deering  harvesters, Miger Corn
(ki S A e Planters and Cultivators, Brown Cul-

: ) ) tivators, Oliver Chilled Plows, Capi-
tol Wagons and Hagan Gasoline En-
gincs ctc. All these goocls in opera-
tion, workmanship and price, bear the
imprint of unmxstal\able approbation;
a fact which is thoroughly established
by their exclusive popularity and usec.
This business house, established in an
humble way thirty- five years ago by
Mr. J. T. Shackelford, has grown year
by year, until now thc magnitude of
the stock and facilities acquired give
it rank with the mctlopoht'm institu-
tmm of th(. lwrgor cmcs

Mr. D B, SHACKELIFORD

EXTERIOR OF D, B, SHACKELFORD & (0, INTERIOR OF D. B SHACKELFORD & €O,



Building No. 9 JUR 7 w76
Downtown Richmond Historic District
Richmond, Kentucky

Supplement to Richmond Climax (|405)
—Photo 8B Fachny St 0wt boldibeineabioitn

Fiaoloce, SEE

SObL RPN See )

Ao q

T iy e m
KR



W. I, CRUTCHER.
The {urpiture and ondertaking es-

tablishment n[ Crutcher _& Iivans of-
fers to the citizens of Richmond and

vicinity advantages which are not ex-
celled in our large cities in the several
lines which comprise their business.
In the f{urniture department their
stock offers ample varicty because of
its maygnitude, and the facilities for
cquipping the hame in all that is new
and improved are unsurpassed, The
stock is made up of a selection of
assorted woods in style and  design
which represents all that is popularly
accepted and approved. This is true
of the array of parlor and bedroom

furniture, sideboards, bookcases,
writing  desks,  buffets,  wardrobes,
china closets and a Jarge line of

couches, npholstered in a variety of
styles. The large stock of carpets and
mattings have an attraction for the
housckeeper, sinee little time or effort
is required to make suitable selection.
Another feature that arrests the at-
tention of housckeepers is the facil-
itiecs employed for picture framing,
and frames can be secured from a va-

CRUTCHER & EVANS,

Furniture and Undertakers.

T

G. W, KVANS, T
riety of designs at almost any figure.
They have lately added an upholster-
ing department, which is in charge of
Mr. J. W. Gray, an efficient workman,

who is well known here,  An impor-
tant branch of the business which to
conduct. satistactonly requires thor-
ough modern  equipment,  scienufie
knowledge al nataral  adaptabihity
for the requiretents of the profession
is that of undertaking and funeral di-
recting, The cequipment of Crutcher
& Lvans is complete, and they keep
on hand a large line of easkets e all
styles, quantitics and designs, A li-
censed enbalmer, G. W, lvans, Jr,
whose proficiency in the art is gener-
ally recognized hereabouts, has charge
of this department. His outhit com-
prises those instruments approved by
the leading instructors of embalming,
and his fluids, disinfectants and de-
odorants are of standard make and
recognized merit. Messrs, Crutcher
& Fvans, who have been cngaged in
business in Richmond about two years,
succeeded Mr, Jo. & Joplin,  lnter-
prise is the trade magnet of this es-
tablishment, and this appcars  with
force and cmphasis in volume of busi-
ness, in magnitude and variety of
stack, in progressive methods, and in
general satisfaction which is attend-
ant upon every transaction.
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~ (1905) ‘
Photo 8C !
View of J.C. Penney Co. facade be-
fore alteration of first floor. ¥
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